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This report has been prepared at the request of William Bock of Taylorville, Illinois.  In late 2011, Mr. Bock purchased a used tandem bicycle with the name, “R. L. Cooley Batavia, NY” on the machine.  The following information represents an effort to discover the background of this bicycle.

                     *                                               *                                               *

In 1892, Robert L. Cooley, his brother Thomas H. Cooley, an older woman who was their mother, and two others who were probably both siblings of the brothers, resided together in Batavia.  According to the 1892 New York State census, these five individuals were:



[Ann] Cooley—63 yr. old



[Sadie] Cooley—26



Thomas H. Cooley—35



Richard E. Cooley—24



Robert L. Cooley—22

According to the census records, all had been born in Canada.  (A later newspaper obituary for Robert identifies his specific birthplace as Ancaster, Ontario and his father as William A. Cooley.)  The occupation of the three males listed in the1892 census is identified in each case as “mechanic.”  From numerous articles over the span of a decade that were printed in The Daily News of Batavia, New York, it appears that Thomas and Robert were both involved in the manufacture of bicycles, but apparently independently of each other.
Thomas H. Cooley
The earliest newspaper reference to Thomas Cooley occurred in May of 1892.  It reads as follows:

   Inventive genius has been at work and there is talk that Batavia is to have a bicycle factory.  Leon W. Hammond and Thomas Cooley, the expert ball-bearing maker at the Gun Works, are the prime movers in the enterprise.  A sample wheel, to be known as the Batavia wheel, is in process of manufacture and will be completed in about three weeks.  The wheels are to be of high grade and will cost $150.

   It is the chief aim to make as light a wheel as possible, and a 30-pounder is the weight sought.  The G and J pneumatic tire will be usual because Hammond and Cooley consider it the best, but the wheel will be made so that any tire can be put on.  Home patents will be applied for on the pedals, which are to be dust and water proof, and upon the ball-bearings of the machine.  Several Batavia parties have manifested a willingness to take stock and a Batavia contractor has made a proposition to build a factory and take a financial interest in the company.  As soon as the sample wheel is completed a stock company will be formed.
Four months later, a newspaper blurb appeared stating that “Hammond & Cooley, manufacturers of the Batavia bicycle, have in course of construction a 20-pound racer.  This will be the lightest machine on the market.”

In December of 1892, this newspaper article was printed:

   Machinery arrived yesterday for the new bicycle factory that Hammond & Cooley are to establish in Batavia and is being placed in position in the stone building in rear of the Post Office, which will be devoted to factory purposes.  Manager Ripper and Secretary Tepe of the Bison Cycle Company of Buffalo were in town yesterday and Hammond & Cooley closed a contract with them to handle the Batavia pedals.  The Batavia factory will commence the manufacture of pedals at once and soon will engage in the manufacture of the Batavia bicycle.  They expect to be in operation in about a week.  The Bison Cycle Company placed an order for 5,000 pairs of the pedals yesterday and an order for 1,000 pairs was received from another concern this morning.  Experts say that the pedal is the finest thing that has ever been placed on the market.  The firm has completed its first Batavia racing wheel.

A week later, a newspaper account of the firm reported that “B. E. Sunricker of Attica and Arthur Stone of Batavia have assumed positions with Batavia’s new bicycle manufacturing concern, the Hammond & Cooley Manufacturing Company.  Operations were commenced at the company’s factory today.”

It appears that the new company’s operation didn’t last long.  Furthermore, it’s not clear whether the firm ever actually manufactured whole bicycles as opposed to just parts.  No articles about the Hammond & Cooley Manufacturing Company appeared in the newspaper after December of 1892; and future newspaper references to activities of Thomas Cooley make no reference to Leon Hammond.

In November of 1893, the following article about Thomas Cooley appeared in print:
   The “Batavia Cycle Factory” is the name of a new industry which has been established in the old Shad factory building by Thomas H. Cooley and Co.  Mr. Cooley was formerly Superintendent of the Batavia pedal company’s factory.  The firm will do a general repair business and will also manufacture pedals and other bicycle parts.
By May of 1894, Thomas Cooley was again planning the manufacture of whole bicycles.  A newspaper account read as follows:

   Thomas H. Cooley, the bicycle manufacturer, has turned out the first of his “Batavia” wheels.  It is a very pretty machine, weighing 28 pounds, and is highly spoken of by experts who have ridden it.  This grade of wheel will retail at $75 and Mr. Cooley says that all of the parts are forged and are exactly the same as are found in any $125 wheel.  Mr. Cooley will also build two finer grades of wheels.

Apparently this operation lasted less than a year.  In April of 1895, a newspaper article reported that “the machinery in Thomas H. Cooley’s bicycle repair shop on Jackson street was sold…by Sheriff Neasmith on the foreclosure of a chattel mortgage for about $140 held by John S. Lang’s Son & Co. of  New York.”
Evidently Thomas Cooley was not easily discouraged.  In October of the same year, this newspaper article appeared:

   Thomas H. Cooley, a well known machinist and inventor and manufacturer of bicycle parts, and George Kidder, an employee at the Wheel factory, who has manufactured and sold a few bicycles this summer, have formed a partnership and about January 1st will commence the work of manufacturing wheels to retail for $50.  They propose to lease a store somewhere on Main street and sell wheelmen’s supplies and do repairing as well as manufacturing.

However, this is the last one reads of Thomas H. Cooley and his efforts to manufacture bicycles.

Robert L. Cooley

The first newspaper reference to Robert Cooley, who was 13 years younger than Thomas, occurred in September of 1892.  The occasion was the successful conclusion of a century ride (100 mile ride) with Arthur Stone made over “the Buffalo course.”  

During much or all of the years when Thomas was trying his hand at the manufacture of bicycles, it appears that Robert was out of town.  However, after Thomas’s efforts failed, Robert was back in town and undertaking his own efforts.  In October of 1896, this newspaper article appeared:
   R. L. Cooley, who returned recently from Geneva, Ohio, where he has been employed for two years in the Geneva Cycle works, will engage this winter in the manufacture of a limited number of high grade bicycles in Batavia.  He has rented a portion of the H. E. Smith building on Exchange place for his factory
The following April, Robert Cooley was running an ad in the newspaper that stated he “built, repaired, enameled and nickel plated [bicycles] in a workman like manner.”  The ad went on to advise that “we manufacture and sell ‘The Batavia’ wheels for both ladies and gentlemen.  Price--$75.”  Apparently he was using the same name for his machines as had his brother.  He listed his business address as 4 Park Place.

Robert Cooley evidently recognized that the future lay more with automobiles than bicycles.  As early as 1900, he was attempting to build a workable vehicle.  A September newspaper account read as follows:

   R. L. Cooley, the State Street bicycle manufacturer, who has been at work several months on an automobile, has nearly completed it and a trial run of about five miles was made about the village last night.  Although the machine is not entirely finished, it ran nicely and proved to be a success.

   The body of the carriage is a full size open box with one seat.  The motive power is a gasoline motor, or gasoline explosion engine as it is sometimes called.  The engine is supplied with two interchangeable gears, which can be changed by the driver, one giving a speed of about thirty miles an hour for smooth roads and the other about eight miles an hour for climbing grades.  It is also supplied with a reversing lever for backing the machine, and a brake.  The steering is done by means of a rod connecting with the center of the forward axle and passing up the right side of the box and in front of the driver’s seat.  The other levers regulating the speed and brake are also on that side of the carriage.

   The total weight of the automobile is less than 700 pounds and it is the lightest full-sized motor carriage ever made.

In May of the following year, a newspaper article reported that Robert Cooley was working with D. W. Tomlinson, Jr. on a steam-powered carriage being built for a Corfu man.  According to Cooley’s obituary from nearly 40 years later, this steam-powered vehicle was a copy of a steam car that Tomlinson had purchased earlier.

It cannot be determined how long Robert Cooley remained in the bicycle business.  It was probably not very long once he became interested in automobiles.  An ad carried in The Times of Batavia in March of 1917 advised the reader that “before you purchase your automobile, see the Mitchell and the Cole.  We can sell you a car that is right and so is the price.  Call in and let us give you a demonstration.”  Show rooms were listed as at 20 Main street.  Note that there is no reference to bicycles. 

Robert Cooley also operated an automobile sales and repair business in the Williams Building at Walnut and West Main streets, selling out to Raymond M. Walker when the latter took over the Ford agency.

In addition to bicycles and automobiles, Robert Cooley’s interests extended to survey instruments.  He reportedly was associated with J. W. Holmes of Prospect Avenue, Batavia, in the manufacture of such instruments.

At some point, prior to 1920, Robert Cooley moved to the Buffalo area where he conducted a combined automobile garage and sales agency on West Ferry, near Hoyt Street.  He became interested in radio and began working for the Colonial Radio Corporation as a research technician.  He was walking home from work at Colonial Radio in May of 1937 when he was struck and killed by a passing automobile.  He was survived by his wife, Winifred Perault Cooley and two sons, Robert L., Jr. and William P. Cooley.
                      *                                                *                                               *

Based on the above evidence, it appears that the tandem bicycle recently purchased by Mr. Bock of Taylorville, Illinois dates to around 1900.
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